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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG KMIG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

REPORT OF THE MANAGER

In 2020, Hong Kong Dollar HIBOR Fixings Rate (3 Mbs) decreased all the way to 0.35% following the
Fed rate cut. The yield of Generic Hong Kong 5-y@avernment Bond lowered to 0.26% from 1.72% at the
very beginning of the year.

Assuming dividends were reinvested, the Hong KontdD Class | units of the Sub-Fund achieved a%.19
return during the year. The Hong Kong Dollar Classnits of the Sub-Fund achieved a 4.93% returimdur
the year. The US Dollar Class | units of the Subdrachieved a 5.65% return during the year. ThariRani
Class | units of the Sub-Fund achieved a -1.264rmeduring the year due to foreign exchange loss.

In terms of the current strategy to navigate madkeertainty, we tactfully allocate investment titbrates

and credit products aiming for a balanced expoguieterest rate risk and credit risk for the palitf.

For and on behalf of
China Universal Asset Management (Hong Kong) Compamited, the Manager

28 April 2021



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE TO THE UNITHOLDERS

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manadéhina Universal Asset Management (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, has, in all material respects, ageal China Universal International Series — CUAMgo
Kong Dollar Bond Fund for the year ended 31 Decer@b0 in accordance with the provisions of thesttru
deed dated 29 December 2011 as amended by fivéesuppal deeds dated 5 October 2012, 15 July 2013,
25 August 2016, 12 January 2017 and 10 Decembér @@llectively, the "Trust Deed").

On behalf of
BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited, the Trustee

28 April 2021



Independent auditor's report

To the Trustee and the Manager of

CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND

(A sub-fund of China Universal International Serian umbrella unit trust established under thes lafv
Hong Kong)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Chinizéysal International Series — CUAM Hong Kong Boll
Bond Fund (a sub-fund of China Universal InternadicSeries (the "Trust") and referred to as thé“Bund")

set out on pages 7 to 37, which comprise the staieof financial position as at 31 December 2020, the

statement of profit or loss and other compreherisieeme, the statement of changes in net assetsuéble

to unitholders and the statement of cash flowgHeryear then ended, and notes to the financitdrants,
including a summary of significant accounting pigsc

In our opinion, the financial statements give a tamd fair view of the financial position of thetSaund as
at 31 December 2020, and of its financial perforoesand its cash flows for the year then endeddoraance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKSSR) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong K8tandards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standamsfurther described in thfuditor's responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statemerstsction of our report. We are independent of thie-Bund in accordance
with the HKICPA'sCode of Ethics for Professional Accountafitee "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the €dd/e believe that the audit evidence we have oddsais
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis far @pinion.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The Manager and the Trustee of the Sub-Fund goemsible for the other information. The other mfi@tion
comprises the information included in the Annuap&¢, other than the financial statements and oditar's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does neécthe other information and we do not expressfany
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial staents, our responsibility is to read the otherrimfation and,
in doing so, consider whether the other informattomaterially inconsistent with the financial staents or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwisgeaps to be materially misstated. If, based omnvibr we
have performed, we conclude that there is a métaigstatement of this other information, we arguiesd
to report that fact. We have nothing to repotthis regard.



Independent auditor's report (continued)

To the Trustee and the Manager of

CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND

(A sub-fund of China Universal International Serian umbrella unit trust established under thes lafv
Hong Kong)

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee fothe financial statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Sub-Fund apemsible for the preparation of the financial stzats
that give a true and fair view in accordance witktFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such interoaitol
as the Manager and the Trustee determine is negdssanable the preparation of financial statermémat
are free from material misstatement, whether ddmatal or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Managet the Trustee of the Sub-Fund are responsible for
assessing the Sub-Fund's ability to continue asirggconcern, disclosing, as applicable, matteeged to
going concern and using the going concern basacobunting unless the Manager and the Trusteereithe
intend to liquidate the Sub-Fund or to cease ogrstor have no realistic alternative but to do so

In addition, the Manager and the Trustee of the-Buwid are required to ensure that the financidéstants
have been properly prepared in accordance witlrdleant provisions of the trust deed, as amenged b
supplemental deeds (collectively, the "Trust Deedli) the relevant disclosure provisions of Apperttliof

the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds ("the 8#6@e") issued by the Hong Kong Securities and lestur
Commission.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurarmmet avhether the financial statements as a whofees
from material misstatement, whether due to fraudroor, and to issue an auditor's report that ohesuour
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as ayjhodaccordance with our agreed terms of engageraed
for no other purpose. We do not assume resporgitolivards or accept liability to any other personthe
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assuramicis,not a guarantee that an audit conducteddardance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatermnehen it exists. Misstatements can arise froradrar
error and are considered material if, individuallyin the aggregate, they could reasonably be ¢agdo
influence the economic decisions of users taketherasis of these financial statements. In additie® are
required to assess whether the financial statenwntse Sub-Fund have been properly prepared,lin al
material respects, in accordance with the reledauiosure provisions of the Trust Deed and theveeit
disclosure provisions of Appendix E of the SFC Code

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, wereise professional judgement and maintain prafessi
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstaterof the financial statements, whether due todra
or error, design and perform audit procedures mesipe to those risks, and obtain audit evidence tha
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basrsdiar opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher thandioe resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misregaetations, or the override of internal control.



Independent auditor's report (continued)

To the Trustee and the Manager of

CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND

(A sub-fund of China Universal International Serian umbrella unit trust established under thes lafv
Hong Kong)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relévarthe audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, butfarothe purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Sub-Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting poliossd and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Maaag the Trustee.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Managen'shenTrustee's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence olotaivteether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant daubthe Sub-Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertagxigts, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in fihancial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusiarssbased on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future egemtconditions may cause the Sub-Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure antesd of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statemamgesent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trusteardéng, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findingscluding any significant deficiencies in intermaintrol that
we identify during our audit.

Report on matters under the relevant disclosure praisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant disclose
provisions of Appendix E of the SFC Code

In our opinion, the financial statements have be@perly prepared, in all material respects, inoagance
with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Tibsed and the relevant disclosure provisions gekulix
E of the SFC Code.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
28 April 2021



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVRECOME

Year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
HK$ HK$
INCOME
Interest income on financial assets at fair valueugh
profit or loss 19,931,311 14,886,588
Other interest income 635,200 887,500
Net gains on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 7 16,354,497 9,139,454
Foreign exchange differences ( 140,077) (0%
Other income 23,252 -
36,804,183 24,718,446
EXPENSES

Management fee
Trustee fee
Custodian fee
License fee
Bank charges

OPERATING PROFIT

FINANCE COSTS
Distributions to unitholders

DECREASE IN NET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

6

(4,414,142)
( 985,055)
( 122,070)
(  6,375)

( 14,362)

(5,542,004)

31,262,179

(33,592,728)

(2,330,549)

(3,130,140)
( 737,098)
( 94,400)
(  6,375)
( 18,652)

(3,986,665)

20,731,781
(23,553)

(2,43190)



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
HK$ HK$

ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit @slo 7 788,343,699 447,746,178
Prepayment 6,375 6,375
Due from the Manager 4 16,370 19,871
Interest receivables 7,753,723 4,321,110
Subscription in transit 10,157,157 -
Cash and cash equivalents 9 86,615,824 59,024,807
TOTAL ASSETS 892,893,148 511,118,341
LIABILITIES
Management fee payable 4 497,312 286,492
Trustee fee payable 4 106,706 67,304
Amount due to broker 8,356,631 -
Redemption proceeds payable 944,707 -
Other payables and accruals 7,363 1,100
TOTAL LIABILITIES EXCLUDING NET ASSETS

ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS 9,912,719 354,896
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS 882,980,429 510,763,445
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 892,893,148 511,1184




CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG KOG DOLLAR BOND FUND

(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TONITHOLDERS

Year ended 31 December 2020

Note

At 1 January 2019

Subscription of units
- Class A (HKD) units
- Class | (HKD) units
- Class | (USD) units
- Class | (RMB) units

Redemption of units
- Class A (HKD) units
- Class | (HKD) units

Decrease in net assets attributable to unitholdierag the year

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020

Subscription of units
- Class A (HKD) units
- Class A (USD) units
- Class | (HKD) units
- Class | (USD) units
- Class | (RMB) units

Redemption of units
- Class A (HKD) units
- Class A (USD) units
- Class | (HKD) units

Decrease in net assets attributable to unitholdieriag the year

At 31 December 2020 10

Number of units

48,211,175,292

9,429,389.611
2,842,107.054
1,643,146.141

46,536.217

13,961,179.023

( 7,058,779.039)
( 1,886,206.357)

( 8,944,985.396)

53,22°0368.

51,317,342.754
281,209.765
1,922,697.763
7,136,855.184
31,725.356

60,689,830.822

(20,310,887.802)
(  63,171.031)
( 1,655,010.099)

(22,029,068.932)

91,888,130.809

HK$
466,016,108

96,054,136

29,089,957

12,974,420
527,440

138,645,953

( "”1907)
( 13219)
( 91,466,826)

( 2,431,790)

510,763,445

518,908,387
2,181,143
19,474,133
56,069,908
348,168

596,981,739

( 205,280)
( 491,724)

( 16702)
(222,434,206)

( 2,330,549)

882,980,429



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019
HK$ HK$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Decrease in net assets attributable to unitholders ( 2,330,549) ( 2,431,790)
Adjustments for:
Interest income on financial assets at fair valueugh

profit or loss ( 19,931,311) ( 14,886,588)
Other interest income ( 635,200) ( .,880)
Distribution to unitholders 33,592,728 23,163,571

10,695,668 4,957,693

Increase in financial assets at fair value thropigtfit or loss (340,597,521) ( 11,259,922)
Decrease in amount due from the Manager 3,501 8696,
Increase in management fee payable 210,820 35,121
Increase in trustee fee payable 39,402 8,342
Increase in amount due to a broker 8,356,631 -
Increase in other payables and accruals 6,263 800
Net cash used in operations (321,285,236) (2160®7)
Interest received 17,133,898 16,320,056
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (304,151,338) 10,098,959
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of units 586,824,582 1389645,
Payments for redemption of units (221,489,499) 91(567,066)
Distribution to unitholders ( 33,592,728) ( 231571)
Net cash flows from financing activities 331,78513 23,915,316
NET INCREASE IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27,591,017 34,014,275
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 0283807 25,010,532
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 9 86,6124 59,024,807

ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 9 24,986,847 5,453,787
Time deposits with original maturity of less than
three months 9 61,628,977 53,571,020

86,615,824 59,024,807

10



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.1

THE SUB-FUND

China Universal International Series (the "Trust/ds constituted as an open-ended unit trust
established under the laws of Hong Kong pursuarthéotrust deed dated 29 December 2011 as
amended by five supplemental deeds dated 5 Oc28d¢e, 15 July 2013, 25 August 2016, 12 January
2017 and 10 December 2019 (collectively, the "Tidsed"). As at 31 December 2020, the Trust
consists of four sub-funds namely CUAM RMB Bondpfusid, CUAM China-Hong Kong Strategy
Fund, CUAM Hong Kong Dollar Bond Fund and CUAM Sgl&JS Dollar Bond Fund.

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar Bond Fund (the "Sub-Fund")sveommenced as a separate sub-fund of
the Trust on 2 September 2013. The Sub-Fund ipan-ended unit trust authorised by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the "SFC")aun8ection 104(1) of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the "SFO") and is required oy with the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual
Funds established by the SFC (the "SFC Code"). gkigaition by the SFC does not imply official
approval or recommendation.

The Manager of the Sub-Fund is China Universal Agesmagement (Hong Kong) Company Limited
(the "Manager") and the Trustee is BOCI-Pruderiifalstee Limited (the "Trustee"). The Custodian
is Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited (the "Custadip

Two classes of units, namely Class A units and Clamits, are available for subscription for the
Sub-Fund. Class A units and Class | units are stutiaifferent management fees. For the year ended
31 December 2020, both Class A units and Clas#d were in issue.

The Sub-Fund mainly invests in debt securities ddswor fully guaranteed by governments,

government agencies, supranational and corporbtedé&bt securities instruments in which the Sub-
Fund may invest include (but not limited to) lorgrh bonds, medium-term notes, bills, convertible
bonds, subordinated debt, asset-backed debt sesucértificate of deposits and commercial papers.
The Sub-Fund will invest more than 70% of its asgatHong Kong Dollar denominated debt

securities and certificates of deposits, and notentban 30% will be invested in other currency

denominated debt securities.

The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to seglrovide investors with a stable and consistent
investment return over medium to long term by itvgsprimarily in Hong Kong Dollar denominated
debt securities instruments.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepareccordgance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Konigdncial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretatiassped by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principlgenerally accepted in Hong Kong and the
relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed ¢ relevant disclosure provisions specified in
Appendix E to the SFC Code.

11



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The financial statements have been prepared uhediistorical cost basis, except for financiak#ss
classified at fair value through profit or loss YPL") that have been measured at fair value. The
financial statements are presented in Hong Kondab¢IHK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest HK$ except where otherwise indicated.

2.2 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Sub-Fund has adopted the following new antsedvHKFRSs for the first time in the current
year's financial statements, which are applicabkhé Sub-Fund.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
The nature and the impact of the amendments aitled below:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Magdr

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new d&éin of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstagiror obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of galnaurpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendmentdshldrat materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information. The amendments did neehany impact on the financial position and
performance of the Sub-Fund.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAREPORTING STANDARDS

There are no standards and interpretations thasswed, but not yet effect, up to date of issuarice
the Sub-Fund's financial statements which, in fhigion of the Manager will clearly impact the Sub-
Fund.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial instruments

(i) Classification
In accordance with HKFRS 9, the Sub-Fund classifiesfinancial assets and financial
liabilities at initial recognition into the categes of financial assets and financial liabilities
discussed below.

In applying that classification, a financial assefinancial liability is considered to be held
for trading if:

(a) Itis acquired or incurred principally for the poge of selling or repurchasing it in the
near term; or

12



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ctimued)

Financial instruments
Q) Classification (continued)

(b) On initial recognition, it is part of a portifo of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which, there is evidefi@gerecent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

(c) It is a derivative (except for a derivative ttlig a financial guarantee contract or a
designated and effective hedging instrument)

Financial assets
The Sub-Fund classifies its financial assets asexpuently measured at amortised cost or
measured at fair value through profit or loss anlibsis of both:

e The entity’s business model for managing the fimgrassets
* The contractual cash flow characteristics of tharfcial asset

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised casigfheld within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order tlect contractual cash flows and its
contractual terms give rise on specified datesashcflows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount tautding. The Sub-Fund includes in this
short-term non-financing receivables including dwen the Manager, interest receivables,
subscription in transit and cash and cash equitalen

Financial assets measured at fair value throughfipar loss (FVPL)
A financial asset is measured at fair value throogtfit or loss if:

(a) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flam specified dates that are solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on thecgral amount outstanding; or

(b) Itis not held within a business model whose olbjeds either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both collect contractual cash flowsl aell; or

(c) Atinitial recognition, it is irrevocably depiated as measured at FVPL when doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurementeoognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise from measuring assets oiliti@s or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases.

The Sub-Fund includes in this category:

* Instruments held for trading. This category inelsidiebt securities which are acquired
principally for the purpose of generating a préfitm short-term fluctuations in price.

13



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ctimued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Classification (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at fair value thrgli profit or loss (FVPL)

A financial liability is measured at FVPL if it misethe definition of held for trading. The
Sub-Fund includes in this category includes itsassets attributable to unitholders and the
Sub- Fund’s accounting policy regarding the netsattributable to unitholders is described
in further part.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

This category includes all financial liabilitiesher than those measured at fair value through
profit or loss. The Sub-Fund includes in this catggnmanagement fee payable, trustee fee
payable, amount due to broker, redemption procpagable and other payables and accruals.

Recognition
The Sub-Fund recognises a financial asset or adiahliability when, and only when, it
becomes a party to the contractual provisions @irtktrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that redeireery of assets within the time frame
generally established by regulation or conventiothe marketplace (regular way trades) are
recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date llea®tb-Fund commits to purchase or sell the
financial asset.

I nitial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FV&ie recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs farch instruments are recognised directly in
profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities (other than thdassified as at FVPL) are measured initially
at their fair value plus any directly attributalleremental costs of acquisition or issue.

Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Sub-Fund measuremttial instruments which are classified
as fair value through profit or loss at fair valSeibsequent changes in the fair value of those
financial instruments are recorded in "Net gairfinancial assets at fair value through profit
or loss". Interest earned of such instruments ¢gemed separately in "Interest income on
financial assets at fair value through profit ada

Debt instruments, other than those classified &¥BL, are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any allowancaeifgpairment. Gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss when the loans aneiwables are derecognised or impaired, as
well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised uegg the effective interest method. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss whenlilbilities are derecognised, as well as
through the amortisation process.

14



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ctimued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Subsequent measurement (continued)
The effective interest is a method of calculating amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the intereisicome or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the ratd #hwactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected lifa@financial instrument or, when appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount offithencial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Subd-estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instruments, dags not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received lsetvparties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transactioste@and all other premiums or discounts.

(V) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part ihancial asset or part of a group of similar

financial assets) is derecognised where:

» The rights to receive cash flows from the assetkeapired; or

* The Sub-Fund has transferred its rights to receash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received cashsflaviull without material delay to a
third party under a pass through arrangement; gherg¢a) the Sub-Fund has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the &asse (b) the Sub-Fund has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the gisihd rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Sub-Fund has transferred its rights teiveccash flows from an asset (or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement), and leéthen transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of tkeed nor transferred control of the asset, the
asset is recognised to the extent of the Sub-Fandtnuing involvement in the asset. In that
case, the Sub-Fund also recognises an associatdlityfi The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis #fldcts the rights and obligations that the
Sub-Fund has retained.

The Sub-Fund derecognises a financial liability wilee obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled, or expired.

Fair value measurement
The Sub-Fund measures financial instruments, ssictiebt securities at fair value at each reporting
date.

Fair value is the price that would be receivedsiban asset or paid to transfer a liability incaderly
transaction between market participants at the ameasent date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to selaset or transfer the liability takes place either

* In the principal market for the asset or liability,

* In the absence of a principal market, in the mdstatageous market for the asset or liability the
principal or the most advantageous market mustbessible by the Sub-Fund.
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ctimued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measuusing the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assg that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

The fair value for financial instruments tradecdative markets at the reporting date is based @n th
quoted price, without any deduction for transactmsts. Securities defined in these accounts as
'listed' are traded in an active market.

For all other financial instruments not tradedneative market, the fair value is determined bpgis
the last traded price or valuation techniques deleimbe appropriate in the circumstances. Valuation
techniques include the market approach and inc@peach.

All assets and liabilities for which fair valuerieeasured or disclosed in the financial statememets a
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, ddsedi as follows, based on the lowest level input tha
is significant to the fair value measurement asale:

Level 1 - Based on quoted (unadjusted) markieeprin active markets for identical assets or
liabilities
Level 2 - Based on valuation techniques for Whiwe lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is directly or indirectlysetvable
Level 3 - Based on valuation techniques for Whlte lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognisetiénfinancial statements on a recurring basis, the S
Fund determines whether transfers have occurredelet levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input ihaignificant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of financial assets

The Sub-Fund recognises an allowance for expectstitdosses (“ECLs") all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs based on the difference between the contractsal ca
flows due in accordance with the contract andn&ldash flows that the Sub-Fund expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original &ffe interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral h@l@ther credit enhancements that are integrtéleto
contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit &x@s for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognitidCLs are provided for credit losses that resulinfro
default events that are possible within the neximthths (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significamease in credit risk since initial recognitioripss
allowance is required for credit losses expectest tive remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ctimued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of financial pasitcash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand, demand deposits, and short-term depositanksh with original maturities of three months or
less.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flowd) easl cash equivalents consist of cash and bank
balances as defined above, net of outstanding tragridrafts when applicable.

Foreign currency
These financial statements are presented in HK&hak the Sub-Fund's functional and presentation

currency. Foreign currency transactions recordethbySub-Fund are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailinghat dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies aemslated at the functional currency rates of engha
ruling at the reporting date. Differences arisingsettlement or transaction of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in termssbbtical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of thelitritiasactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated usiegetkchange rates at the date when the fair valse wa
determined.

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses mandial instruments classified as at fair value
through profit or loss are included in profit os$oas part of the 'net loss on financial assefiirat
value through profit or loss'.

Functional currency

The Sub-Fund's functional currency is HK$, whichtli® currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Sub-Fundiopmance is evaluated and its liquidity is
managed in HK$. Therefore, the HK$ is considerethasurrency that most faithfully represents the
economic effects of the underlying transactiongnéy and conditions. The Sub-Fund's presentation
currency is also HK$.

Net assets attributable to unitholders

The Sub-Fund issues redeemable units, namely &lasgis and Class | units, which are redeemable
at the unitholder's option and are classified aaricial liabilities as they do not meet the coodii

to be classified as equity.

The unitholders can redeem the units during thegHGng business days of each calendar month or
such other day or days determined by the Managkiaustee may agree from time to time for cash

equal to a proportionate share of the Sub-Fund'assets attributable to unitholders of the relevan

classes.

Redeemable units are issued and redeemed at tther'sabption at prices based on the Sub-Fund's
net assets attributable to unitholders per unih@time of issue or redemption. The Sub-Fund's net
assets attributable to unitholders per unit is wated by dividing the net assets attributable to
unitholders by the number of units in issue.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contired)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in profit or lossdbrinterest-bearing financial instruments usihg t
effective interest method.

Net gains on financial assets at fair value thropgtfit or loss
This item includes changes in the fair value oéficial assets held for trading and excludes interes
income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes ifaithealue of financial instruments for the year
and from reversal of prior period's unrealised gand losses for financial instruments which were
realised in the reporting period.

Realised gains and losses on disposals of finamg&luments classified as at "fair value through
profit or loss" are calculated using the weightegrage method. They represent the difference
between an instrument's average cost and disposalrd.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Sub-Rfind

(a) the party is a person or a close member of thabpés family and that person
(i) bhas control or joint control over the Sub-Fund;
(i) bhas significant influence over the Sub-Fund; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel dbttheFund or of a parent of the Sub-
Fund; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the followswnditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Sub-Fund are members of the gaoup;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture ofdther entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Sub-Fund are joint venturehiefsame third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity ahd other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan far bienefit of employees of either the Sub-
Fund or an entity related to the Sub-Fund;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled byparson identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant irdhce over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of amaof the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which itaipart, provides key management
personnel services to the Sub-Fund or to the pafahe Sub-Fund.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ctimued)

Taxes

The Sub-Fund is exempted from all forms of taxatiohlong Kong, including income, capital gains
and withholding taxes. However, in some jurisdicfimvestment income and capital gains are subject
to withholding tax deducted at the source of tle@me. The Sub-Fund presents the withholding tax
separately from the gross investment income initppofoss. For the purpose of the statement df cas
flows, cash inflows from investments are presentidof withholding taxes, when applicable.

Distributions to unitholders

Distributions are at the discretion of the Manageristribution to the Sub-Fund's unitholders is
included in profit or loss as the "finance cost&'proposed distribution is recognised as a ligbih
the year in which it is approved by the Managethef Sub-Fund.

Amounts due to and due from brokers

Amounts due to brokers are payables for secuptieshased (in a regular way transaction) that have
been contracted for, but not yet delivered, onréporting date. Refer to above for the accounting
policy for recognition and measurement of finantiailities, other than those classified as at EVP

Amounts due from brokers include receivables fausées sold (in a regular way transaction) that
have been contracted for, but not yet deliveredherreporting date. Refer to the accounting policy
for loans and receivables for recognition and mesasant.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Sub-Fund's financial statémeequires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the repar@elints recognised in the financial statements.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions atichaes could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying anmadirihe asset or liability affected in the future
periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Sub-Fund's accogngialicies, management has not made any

significant judgements which have the significaffiée on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Estimates and assumptions

No significant estimation uncertainty that hasgm#icant risk of causing a material adjustmenthi®
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities withia hext financial year exists at the end of thertam
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

4, TRANSACTIONS WITH THE MANAGER AND ITS CONNECTEPERSONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following is a summary of significant relatedrfy transactions entered into during the year
between the Sub-Fund and the Manager and theirectesh persons. Connected persons of the
Manager are those as defined in the SFC Coderailsactions entered into during the year between
the Sub-Fund, the Manager and their connected penrsere carried out in the normal course of
business and on normal commercial terms. To thediegbe Manager's knowledge, the Sub-Fund
does not have any other transactions with connguesbns except for those disclosed below:

Holdings of the Sub-Fund
The Sub-Fund allows the Manager, its connectedpsrand other funds managed by the Manager
to subscribe for, and redeem, units in the Sub-Fund

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Maregksubscriptions of HK$2,910,828 in Class
| (HKD), US$6,734,538 in Class | (USD) and HK$348Aa Class A (HKD).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Maegksubscriptions of HK$13,984,559 in Class
| (HKD), US$1,659,519 in Class | (USD) and HK$32898 Class A (HKD) and a redemption of
HK$10,879,439 in Class | (HKD).

The holdings of Class | and Class A in the SubeFoy the Manager as at 31 December 2020 and
2019 were as follows:

At 31 December 2020 Units Units Units Units
outstanding at subscribed redeemed outstanding a

31 December during during 31 December

2019 the year the year 2020

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar
Bond Fund — Class | (HKD)  5,954,262.519 289,396 - 6,243,626.015

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar
Bond Fund — Class | (USD)  10,730,896.780 6,833.188 - 17,368,749.968

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar
Bond Fund — Class A (HKD) 74,334.976 3,465.99 - 77,796.971
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31 December 2020

4, TRANSACTIONS WITH THE MANAGER AND ITS CONNECTEPERSONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Holdings of the Sub-Fund (continued)

At 31 December 2019

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar
Bond Fund — Class | (HKD)

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar
Bond Fund — Class | (USD)

CUAM Hong Kong Dollar

Bond Fund — Class A (HKD)

Units Units Units Units
outstanding at subscribed redeemed outstanding a
31 December during during 31 December

2018 the year the year 2019

5,647,858.162 7,320.670 (1,070,916.313) 5,954,262.519

9,087,750.639 3,646.141 - 10,730,896.780

71,054.182 3,28a.7 - 74,334.976

Investment in securities issued by a connectesbpenf the Trustee

The Sub-Fund invested in quoted debt securitiaseddy connected persons of the Trustee. The
number of shares and the amount invested by thed=8ob as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were

as follows:

31 December 2020

Net gains/
Closing % of net (losses) on
holdings  Market value  assets as at the
as at 31 as at 31 31 investments
December December  December during
2020 2020 2020 Purchase Sales 2020
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG
KONG 2.59% A 25JUL2022
FXCD 1,000,001 1,029,101 0.12% 25,600
BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG
KONG 3% A 21MAY2021
FXCD 10,000,00 10,102,70 1.14% (2,800
BANK OF CHINA LTD/MACAU
2.34% S/A 150CT20: 14,00,00C 8,54(
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4, TRANSACTIONS WITH THE MANAGER AND ITS CONNECTEPERSONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Investment in securities issued by a connectesbpenf the Trustee (continued)
31 December 2019

Net gains/

Closing % of net (losses) on
holdings  Market value  assets as at the
asat 3l asat 31 31 investments
December December  December during
2019 2019 2019 Purchase Sales 2019
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG

KONG 2.59% A 25JUL2022

FXCD 1,000,00C 1,003,501 0.2C - - 12,89(
BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG

KONG 3% A 21MAY2021

FXCD 10,000,00C 10,105,50 1.9¢ (10,132,93) - (27,430
BANK OF CHINA LTD/MACAU
2.34% S/A 150CT2020 14,000,00(¢ 13,991,46 2.74 - - 107,80(

Interest Income earned from investments in dehirgexs issued by a connected person of the Trustee
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the inteaesee from the debt securities issued by Bank of
China Limited, an affiliate company of the Trustekthe Sub-Fund was HK$602,478 (2019:
HK$352,602).

Investment and other handling fees

The Sub-Fund pays investment handling fee of HK§ddlransaction and other handling fees to the
Trustee. For the year ended 31 December 2020ptakamount of investment and other handling
fees was HK$22,350 (2019: HK$8,900) and it was bdiynthe Manager.

Bank charges with a connected person of the Trustee
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the bankehaajd to Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited,
an affiliate company of the Trustee of the Sub-Fwad HK$14,362 (2019: HK$18,352).

Custodian fee

The Custodian is entitled to receive, on an anbaalis, custodian fees from the Sub-Fund, at a rate
up to 0.1% per annum of the net assets attributablmitholders of the Sub-Fund calculated and is
paid monthly in arrears. For the year ended 31 Béee 2020, the custodian fee was HK$122,070
(2019: HK$94,400).
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4, TRANSACTIONS WITH THE MANAGER AND ITS CONNECTEPERSONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Brokerage commission

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, an affiliate thfe Trustee, rendered brokerage services for the
Sub-Fund's purchases and sales of securitiesraigaction details were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020

% of Sub-
Aggregate value Total Fund's total
of purchases and  commission transactions Average
sales of securities paid during the  commission
HK$ HK$ year rate (%
Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limitec 91,181,29 - 12.4% -
Year ended 31 December 2019
% of Sub-
Aggregate value Total Fund's total
of purchases and  commission transactions Average
sales of securities paid during the commission
HK$ HK$ yeal rate (%
Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limitec 33,366,64 - 17.0€% -

Bank deposits and investments held by the Trussfdiates

The Sub-Fund's investments were held by the Trigséfdiate, Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited.
As at 31 December 2020, bank balances including tieposits of the Sub-Fund held by the Trustee's
affiliate were HK$24,986,847 (2019: HK$5,453,78% the interest income on these bank balances
for the year was HK$4,722 (2019: HK$50,429).

Management fee
The Manager is entitled to receive, on an annasisha management fee from the Sub-Fund, at a rate

of 0.75% for Class A units and 0.5% for Class tsiper annum (up to maximum of 3% per annum
in total by giving not less than one month’s pmatice to the unitholders) with respect to the net
assets attributable to unitholders of each clatiseoBub-Fund calculated and accrued on each dealin
day and are paid monthly in arrears. For the yede@ 31 December 2020, the management fee was
HK$4,414,142 (2019: HK$3,130,140).
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4, TRANSACTIONS WITH THE MANAGER AND ITS CONNECTEIPERSONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Trustee fee

The Trustee is entitled to receive, on an annusikba trustee fee from the Sub-Fund, at the curren
rate of 0.15% per annum (up to maximum of 0.5%ayerum by giving not less than one month's
prior notice to the unitholders) of the net asa#titbutable to unitholders of the Sub-Fund calmda
subject to a minimum monthly fee of HK$35,000, aatrued on each dealing day and is paid
monthly in arrears. For the year ended 31 Decer2d20, the trustee fee was HK$985,055 (2019:
HK$737,098).

Certain charges, fees and expenses borne by thadda

Pursuant to the latest Explanatory Memorandumefaihb-Fund, certain charges, fees and expenses
which are attributable to the Sub-Fund are bornegheyManager at its discretion starting from

1 January 2014 until a future date as notifiedigyManager. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Manager bore and paid a total sum of HK$622{80¢he Sub-Fund (2019: HK$395,479).

For the year ended 31 December 2020, certain fes &s transaction fee, scrip fee paid to the
Custodian were HK$27,340 (2019: HK$11,631) anddlvesre borne by the Manager.

As at 31 December 2020, the Sub-Fund has an andaerfrom the Manager of HK$16,370 (2019:
HK$19,871) related to certain charges, fees andresgs borne by the Manager. The balance with the
Manager is unsecured, interest-free and repayabtzmand.

5. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been &t the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund is authorised

by the SFC as a collective investment scheme patrsagbection 104 of the SFC to offering to the
retail public in Hong Kong. It is exempted from HpKong profits tax under Section 26A(1A) of the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance.
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6. DISTRIBUTIONS

Undistributed income at 1 January 2019

Decrease in net assets attributable to unitholdigtieg the year
Add: Finance costs — distribution to unitholders
Less: Net gain on financial assets at fair valueuph profit or loss

Undistributed income before distribution

2019 interim distribution (Class A HKD: HK$ 0.33@runit,
Class | HKD: HK$ 0.390 per unit, Class | USD: US83D per unit,
Class | RMB: RMB 0.320) distributed on 18 June 2019

2019 final distribution (Class A HKD: HK$ 0.130 penit,
Class | HKD: HK$ 0.150 per unit, Class | USD: US81® per unit,
Class | RMB: RMB 0.450) distributed on 17 Decemb@t9

Total distributions during the year
Transfer from capital

Undistributed income at 31 December 2019 and lalgi2020
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( 2,431,790)
3,183,571
(9,139,454)

11,597,32

(15,858,572)

( 7,304,999)

(23,163,571)
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies
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31 December 2020

DISTRIBUTIONS (continued)

HK$
Undistributed income at 31 December 2019 and lalgi2020 -
Decrease in net assets attributable to unitholdigtiag the year (2,330,549)
Add: Finance costs — distribution to unitholders 3,582,728

Less: Net gain on financial assets at fair valueuph profit or loss

Undistributed income before distribution

2020 interim distribution (Class A HKD: HK$ 0.232munit,
Class | HKD: HK$ 0.242 per unit, Class | USD: US835 per unit,
Class | RMB: RMB 0.489) distributed on 16 June 2020

2020 interim distribution (Class A HKD: HK$ 0.18@rmunit,
Class | HKD: HK$ 0.180 per unit, Class | USD: US89 per unit,
Class | RMB: RMB 0.001) distributed on 15 Septeni2@20

2020 final distribution (Class A HKD: HK$ 0.050 peit,
Class | HKD: HK$ 0.060 per unit, Class A USD: US8@L per unit,
Class | USD: US$ 0.006 per unit, Class | RMB: RMB@1)
distributed on 15 December 2020

Total distributions during the year
Transfer from capital

Undistributed income at 31 December 2020

(16,354,497)
14,902,68
(14,903,502)

(14,089,512)

(4,599,714)

(33,592,728)
18,685,046

The amount available for distribution is the tatat amount receivable by the Sub-Fund in respect of
the relevant period ("Total Income™) minus any exges chargeable against income, subject to
adjustments made in accordance with the Trust Deatdl Income would include amount receivable
by way of interests (e.g. generated from bank depasd debt securities), or other receipts as
determined by the Manager to be in the natureadrire. Capital gains or losses, whether realised or
unrealised, do not form part of Total Income aretéfore would not impact on the amount available

for distribution.
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31 December 2020

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OROSS
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
Quoted debt securities 788,343,699 447,746,178
Total financial assets at fair value through profitoss 788,343,699 447,746,178

Net gains recognised in relation to financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss:

Realised gains/(losses) 1,603,532 ( 258%H
Net change in unrealised gains or losses 504985 11,549,036
Net gains 16,354,497 9,139,454

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all the quotetsaturities were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as they were Heldirading.

8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table shows an analysis of the Subesifinancial assets measured at fair value at
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

At 31 December 2020 Quoted prices Significant RBigamt
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Quoted debt securities - 788,343,699 - 788,348,69

- 788,343,699 - 788,343,699
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8.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2019 Quoted prices Significant Rigamt
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Quoted debt securities - 447,746,178 - 447,77%,1

- 447,746,178 - 447,746,178

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31ntme2019, there are no transfers of fair
value measurements between Level 1, Level 2 andll3v

Valuation technigues

Quoted debt securities

The Sub-Fund invests in corporate bonds. A findnicgirument is regarded as quoted in an active
market if quoted prices are readily and regulavigilable from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, drubé prices represent actual and regularly ocaurrin
market transactions on an arm's length basiselalisence of a quoted price in an active markey, th
are valued using observable inputs such as recerdguted transaction prices in securities of the
issuers or comparable issuers and yield curvesistjents are made to valuation when necessary to
recognise differences in the instrument terms.heoeixtent that the significant inputs are obsesjabl
the Sub-Fund categorises these investments as Revel
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2020 2019
HK$ HK$
Cash and bank balances 24,986,847 5,453,787
Time deposits 61,628,977 53,571,020

86,615,824 59,024,807

The bank balance is the cash at bank held wittCtistodian of the Sub-Fund that was placed into
accounts bearing floating interest.

Short term time deposits are made for varying pisriof between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements dbtibeFund, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balaneedeposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

10. DETAILS ON UNITS

The following is the number of units in issue ared assets attributable to unitholders per unihef
Sub-Fund as at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Class A Class A Class | Class | Class |
(HKD) units (USD) units (HKD) units (USD) units (RMB) units
Number of units in issue
At 31 December 2020 59,172,715.328 218,038.734 ,9513363.210 17,867,751.964 678,261.573
At 31 December 2019 28,166,260.376 - 13,683,68.54  10,730,896.780 646,536.217
Net assets attributable to
unitholders per unit
HK$ Us$ HK$ uss$ RMB
At 31 December 2020 10.045 1.004 10.051 1.004 403
At 31 December 2019 10.019 - 10.020 1.008 9.991

Unitholders of the Sub-Fund who wish to redeenir tiegleemable participating units may do so on
any dealing day, i.e. every Hong Kong businessaldlie calendar year, by submitting a realisation
request to the Manager or authorised distributefsre the dealing deadline, i.e. 4:00 p.m. (Hong
Kong time) on the relevant dealing day. Unless wifse stated in the explanatory memorandum of
the Sub-Fund, realisation requests received dftedéaling deadline will be carried forward anddea
with on the next dealing day.
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10. DETAILS ON UNITS (continued)

The Manager may suspend the redemption or comversif redeemable participating units or delay
the payment of redemption proceeds during any g@erie which the determination of the net asset
value of the Sub-Fund is suspended under certaimdittons as set out in the explanatory
memorandum of the Sub-Fund.

With a view to protecting the interests of unithexisl the Manager is entitled, after consultatiotn wi
the Trustee, to limit the number of units of anyp$Fwnd redeemed on any dealing day to 10% of the
total number of units of the relevant Sub-FundBuk. In this event, the limitation will apply peda

so that all unitholders of the Sub-Fund who havallyarequested to redeem units of the Sub-Fund
on that dealing day will redeem the same propomiosuch units of the Sub-Fund provided that any
holdings so requested to be realised being in gagtgeof not more than 1% of the total number of
units of any Sub-Fund in issue may be realiseduihif in the opinion of the Manager after
consultation with the Trustee, the applicationudtslimitation would be unduly onerous or unfair to
the unitholder or unitholders concerned. Any undsrealised (but which would otherwise have been
realised) will be carried forward for realisati@ubject to the same limitation, and will have gtjor
on the next succeeding dealing day and all follgndealing days (in relation to which the Manager
has the same power) until the original requestieas satisfied in full.

11. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES

Risk management

Risk is inherent in the Sub-Fund's activities, buts managed through a process of ongoing
identification, measurement and monitoring. The &er is responsible for identifying and
controlling risks. In perspective of risk managemére Sub-Fund's objective is to create and ptotec
value for unitholders.

The Sub-Fund is exposed to market risk (which ietuinterest rate risk and foreign exchange risk),
credit and counterparty risk and liquidity risksang from the financial instruments it holds.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from urteemty concerning movements in market prices and
rates, including observable variables such asdsteates, credit spreads, exchange rates, and othe
that may be only indirectly observable such astilitias and correlations. Market risk includes Buc
factors as changes in economic environment, consompattern and investors' expectation etc.
which may have significant impact on the valuehaf investments. Market movement may therefore
result in substantial fluctuation in the net assdttisbutable to unitholders per unit of the Sulméu

The maximum credit risk resulting from financiasiruments approximate their carrying amounts.

The Sub-Fund assumes market risk in trading aietsviiThe Sub-Fund distinguishes market risk as
follows:

* Interest rate risk
» Foreign exchange risk
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11.

FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the effects oftthations in the prevailing levels of market intémedes
on the fair value of financial instruments and fataash flow.

As the Sub-Fund has invested in fixed income sBesrivhose values are driven significantly by
changes in interest rates, the Sub-Fund is sutgecterest rate risk. When interest rates rise, th
value of previously acquired fixed income secusitigll normally fall because new debt securities
acquired will pay a higher rate of interest. In tast, if interest rates fall, then the value o th
previously acquired debt securities will normailser The Manager regularly assesses the economic
condition, monitor changes in interest rates oltland takes appropriate measures accordingly to
control the impact of interest rate risk.

The majority of interest rate exposure arisesnmestments in debt securities. All of the Sub-Fsind'
investments in debt securities carry fixed interagts and the average duration of the fixed income
portion is around 2.84 (2019: 2.7The Manager considers the movement in interess railehave
insignificant impact on the interest income.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivitytled Sub-Fund's profit or loss for the year to a
reasonable possible change in interest rates,aliither variables held constant.

The sensitivity of both the net assets attrib@ablunitholders and the change in net assetbutitle

to unitholders from operations is the effect of éissumed changes in interest rates on changeis in fa
value of investments for the year, based on rengldixed rate financial assets at the end of the
reporting period. In practice, the actual tradiaguits may differ from the sensitivity analysisdvel
and the difference could be significant.

As at 31 December 2020

Quoted debt securities

As at 31 December 2019

Quoted debt securities

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
HK$

788,343,699
Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
HK$
447,746,178
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Sensitivity of
changes in fair value

Change in of investments

basis increase/(decrease)
points HK$
+/-50 -/+10, (X0
Sensitivity of

changes in fair value

Change in of investments

basis increase/(decrease)
points HK$
+/-50 -/+6 1D
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11.

FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risKcontinued)

The Sub-Fund also has interest-bearing bank depésithe bank deposits are of short term maturity,
the Manager considers the movement in interess waitehave insignificant cash flow impact on the
daily net assets attributable to unitholders &1 &@ecember 2020 and therefore no sensitivity aimaly
of interest on bank deposits is presented.

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the valugnancial instruments will fluctuate due to chasg
in foreign exchange rates.

The Sub-Fund holds assets and liabilities predaiyndenominated in HKS, the functional currency
of the Sub-Fund. Other transactions are denominatEited States dollars ("US$") and Renminbi
("RMB"). Since the HK$ is pegged to the US$ and the Sub-Fetd insignificant amount of
Renminbi denominated assets, The Manager considerSub-Fund is not exposed to significant
currency risk and therefore no sensitivity analysigresented.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Sebrad will encounter difficulty in meeting obligatis
associated with financial liabilities that are keettby delivering cash or another financial assets.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of thespmlity that the Sub-Fund could be required tg pa
its liabilities or redeem its units earlier tharpegted. The Sub-Fund is exposed to cash redemptions
of its redeemable units on a regular basis. Umtsredeemable at the holder's option based on the
Sub-Fund's net asset value per unit at the tinted#mption, calculated in accordance with the Sub-
Fund's Trust Deed. It is the Sub-Fund's policy thatManager monitors the Sub-Fund's liquidity
position on a daily basis.

The table below summarises the maturity profil&Sob-Fund's financial liabilities at the end of the

reporting period based on contractual undiscouossth flows. The table also analyses the maturity
profile of the Sub-Fund's financial assets (undisted where appropriate) in order to provide a
complete view of the Sub-Fund's contractual commiitts and liquidity.

Financial liabilities

The maturity grouping is based on the remainingoplefrom the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. When counterparty helscace of when the amount is paid, the liability is
allocated to the earliest period in which the Sulbxcan be required to pay.

Financial assets

Analysis of debt securities at fair value througbfip or loss into maturity groupings is based ba t
expected date on which these assets will be relaliser other assets, the analysis into maturity
groupings is based on the remaining period frometh@ of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date or, if earlier, the expected datevbich the assets will be realised.
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11.

FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

At 31 December 2020
Less than 3to 12

On demand 3 months months Others Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss - 788,343,699 - 788,343,699
Due from the Manager - 16,370 - - 16,370
Interest receivables - 5,727,156 2,026,567 - 1758
Subscription in transit - 10,157,157 - - 10,157,15
Cash and cash equivalents 24,986,847 61,628,977 - - 86,615,824
Total financial assets 24,986,847 865,873,359 &5BY - 892,886,773
Financial liabilities
Management fee payable - 497,312 - - 497,312
Trustee fee payable - 106,706 - - 106,706
Amount due to broker - 8,356,631 - - 8,356,631
Redemption proceeds payable - 944,707 - - 944,707
Other payables and accruals - 7,363 - - 7,363
Net assets attributable

to unitholders* - - -882,980,429 882,980,429
Total financial liabilities - 9,912,719 -882,98091 892,893,148

* As detailed in the explanatory memorandum of $udb-Fund, the redeemable participating units
might be subject to redemption restrictions.
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11. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

At 31 December 2019
Less than 3to 12

On demand 3 months months Others Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss - 447,746,178 - 447,746,178
Due from the Manager - 19,871 - - 19,871
Interest receivables - 3,239,705 1,081,405 - 413701
Cash and cash equivalents 59,024,807 - - - 588024,
Total financial assets 59,024,807 451,005,754 811,4D5 - 511,111,966
Financial liabilities
Management fee payable - 286,492 - - 286,492
Trustee fee payable - 67,304 - - 67,304
Other payables and accruals - 1,100 - - 1,100
Net assets attributable

to unitholders* - - -510,763,445 510,763,445
Total financial liabilities - 354,896 -510,763,44%511,118,341

* As detailed in the explanatory memorandum of $ub-Fund, the redeemable participating units
might be subject to redemption restrictions.

Credit and counterparty risk

The Sub-Fund is exposed to credit risk, whichésribk that the counterparty to a financial instemn
will cause a financial loss for the other partyfaying to discharge an obligation.

If the issuer of any of the fixed income securitieswhich the Sub-Fund's assets are invested in
defaults, the performance of the Sub-Fund will theeasely affected.

The Sub-Fund invests in a diversified portfoliofi@ed income securities, the selection of which is
based upon fundamental research analysis, to netihes risk. The Sub-Fund limits its exposure to
credit risk by transacting the majority of its seties issued by issuers with a suitable credihgat
and contractual commitment activity with brokerdées and financial institutions with high credit
ratings that the Sub-Fund considers to be welbésted.
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11.

FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Credit and counterparty risk (continued)

The Sub-Fund's maximum exposure to credit rislkhatend of the reporting period is the carrying
amount of total assets as shown on the stateméintaofcial position.

The Manager considers that none of these asseis\paired nor past due as at 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).

Credit risk disclosures are segmented into twadices based on whether the underlying financial
instrument is subject to HKFRS 9's impairment discire or not.

Financial assets subject to expected credit loss

The Sub-Fund’s financial assets subject to the argdecredit loss model within HKFRS 9 are only
due from the Manager, interest receivables, suftsami in transit and cash and cash equivalents. As
at 31 December 2020, the total of due from the Mananterest receivables, subscription in transit
and cash and cash equivalents was HK$104,543,0049{2HK$63,365,788) on which no loss
allowance (2019: no loss allowance) had been peavio amount (2019: Nil) was considered credit
impaired at the end of the reporting period.

In calculating the loss allowance, a provision métas been used based on historical observed loss
rates over the expected life of the receivablegsaeg for forward-looking estimates. Items havenbee
grouped by their nature into the following categeridue from the Manager, interest receivables,
subscription in transit and cash and cash equitalédl the Sub-Fund’'s cash and cash equivalents
are held in major financial institutions locatecdHang Kong, which the Manager believes are of high
credit quality. The Manager considers the Sub-Hambt exposed to significant credit risk and no
loss allowance has been made.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 leee2020

The table below shows the credit quality and th&imam exposure to credit risk based on the Sub-
Fund's credit policy, which is mainly based on pés¢ information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and yead-staging classification as at 31 December 2020.
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11. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Credit and counterparty risk (continued)

Financial assets subject to expected credit logsontinued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31mleer202(0continued)

12-month Lifetime
expected expected
credit losses credit losses
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
- Not yet past due 86,615,824 - - - 86,615,824
Interest receivables
- Not yet past due 7,753,723 - - - 7,753,723
Due from the Manager
- Not yet past due 16,370 - - - 16,370
Subscription in transit
- Not yet past due 10,157,157 - - - 10,157,157
Total 104,543,074 - - - 104,543,074

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31leee2019

The table below shows the credit quality and th&imam exposure to credit risk based on the Sub-
Fund's credit policy, which is mainly based on pés¢ information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and yead-staging classification as at 31 December 2019.

12-month Lifetime
expected expected
credit losses credit losses
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Financial asset
Cash and cash equivalents
- Not yet past due 59,024,807 - - - 59,024,807
Interest receivables
- Not yet past due 4,321,110 - - - 4,321,110
Due from the Manager
- Not yet past due 19,871 - - - 19,871
Total 63,365,788 - - - 63,365,788
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11.

12.

13.

14.

FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND PQICIES (continued)

Risk management (continued)
Credit and counterparty risk (continued)

Financial assets not subject to HKFRS 9's expectauiedit loss

The Sub-Fund is exposed to credit risk on debtunsénts. This class of financial assets is notesubj
to HKFRS 9’s impairment requirements as this issnead at FVPL. The carrying value of this asset,
under HKFRS 9 impairment requirements on the rdspeceporting dates. Hence, no separate
maximum exposure to credit risk disclosure is piedifor this instrument.

Capital management

The Sub-Fund's objectives for managing capitalt@ar@vest the capital in investments in order to
achieve its investment objective while maintainggficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the
Sub-Fund, and to meet redemption requests as thsey a

SOFT COMMISSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Manager and its connected persons have reveecany soft dollar commissions or entered into
any soft dollar arrangements in respect of the gament of the Sub-Fund for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the period from 1 January 2021 to 27 Ap@i22, the Sub-Fund has received a total subsequent
subscription of HK$25,066,957, US$14,737, RMB67& aademption of HK$150,882,509 and
US$2,837,150, respectively.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and audtfi issue by the Trustee and the Manager on
28 April 2021.
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Holding/
Nominal value
Listed/quoted debt securities

Bermuda

Denominated in HK

HAITONG INTL SECURITIES GROUP LTD CB 0% A

250CT202. 32,000,00

British Virgin Island:
Denominated in HK

HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 1.75% A 04FEB20: 6,000,00!
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 2.35% S/A

06MAY2027 4,000,001
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 2.55% A 24JAN20: 2,000,00!
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 2.85% Q 23APR20 8,000,00!
HENDERSON LAND MTNLTD 3.6% S/A 09NOV202 14,000,00
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 4.03% Q 27SEP2C 2,000,00!
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 4.8% Q 10NOV20: 6,000,00!
HLP FINANCE LTD 4.35% S/A 20JAN20: 1,000,001
HYSAN MTN LTD 3.1% Q 04APR20Z 2,000,00!
K WAH INTL FINANCIAL SERVICES LTD 4.35% Q

22JUL202: 12,000,00
NWD MTN LTD 3.8% Q 21MAY202! 6,000,00!
NWD MTN LTD 5.9% S/A 18SEP20: 2,000,00!
WHARF FINANCE BVI LTD 3.3% Q 07SEP20:. 4,000,001
WHARF FINANCE BVI LTD 3.8% A 17SEP20: 14,000,00
WHARF REIC FINANCE BVILTD 2.1% Q

16MAR2027 27,000,00
WHARF REIC FINANCE BVI LTD 2.8% A23JAN203! 16,000,00
Denominated in US

FRANSHION BRILLIANT LTD 4.875% S/A PER 500,00(
RKPF OVERSEAS 2019 A LTD 6% S/A 04SEP2 900,00
WANDA PROPERTIES OVERSEAS LTD 6.875% S/A

23JUL202: 500,00(
WANDA PROPERTIES OVERSEAS LTD 6.95% S/A

05DEC202; 1,000,001

Cayman Islands
Denominated in HK
CK PROPERTY FINANCE MTN LTD 2.25% Q

25AUG202: 1,000,00
MTR CORP (CI) LTD1.92% A 260CT20z 4,000,001
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 2.25% A 28DEC20 3,000,001
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 2.25% Q 04DEC20 2,000,001
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 2.25% Q 120CT20 2,000,001
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 3%Q 24FEB203 1,000,001
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Fair value
HK$

31,911,68

6,038,28

4,030,321
2,047,68i
8,048,64!
14,909,02
2,041,28
7,248,18
1,001,291
2,105,341

12,234,12
6,415,501
2,214,161
4,234,76!

14,691,32

27,804,33
16,730,88

3,270,92.
7,183,70

3,962,26

7,923,28

1,022,58!
4,092,041
3,149,52i
2,112,08i
2,058,401
1,143,271

% of net
assets

3.61

0.6¢

0.4¢
0.2t
0.91
1.6¢
0.2t
0.8z
0.11
0.2¢

1.3¢
0.7
0.2t
0.4¢
1.6¢€

3.1¢
1.8¢

0.37
0.81

0.4£

0.9C

0.1z
0.4¢
0.3¢
0.2¢
0.2¢
0.1:
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31 December 2020

Listed/quoted debt securities

Cayman Islands (continue

Denominated in HK

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 2.28% Q 25AUG202

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 2.55% Q 24JUL20z

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 2.68% Q 27FEB20:

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 2.7% Q 26JUN20z

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 3.25% Q 05DEC20:

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 3.35% Q 11SEP20:

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 4% Q 16APR202

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 4.05% Q 24FEB20:

SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL MARKET
LTD 4.1% Q 20APR20Z

SWIRE PACIFIC MTN FINANCING LTD 2.85% Q
18JUL202:

SWIRE PACIFIC MTN FINANCING LTD 3.35% Q
31JUL202!

SWIRE PACIFIC MTN FINANCING LTD 3.9% Q
05NOV203(

Denominated in US

AGILE GROUP HLDGS LTD 6.7% S/A 07MAR20:

AGILE GROUP HLDGS LTD 8.5% S/A 18JUL20

CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD 7.25% S/A
13AUG202:

CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD 7.25% S/A
24APR202.

CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD 7.9% S/A
07NOV202:

CHINA SCE GROUP HLDGS LTD 7.375% S/A
09APR202.

CIFI HLDGS GROUP CO LTD 6.55% S/A 28MAR2(C

FUTURE LAND DEVELOPMENT HLDGS LTD 6.15%
S/A 15APR202

GREENTOWN CHINA HLDGS LTD 5.65% S/A
13JUL202!
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Holding/
Nominal value

5,000,001
4,000,001
12,000,00
2,000,001
1,000,001
2,000,001
3,500,001
3,000,001
5,000,001
2,000,001
3,000,001
13,000,00
1,500,001
500,00(
500,00t
500,00t
500,00(

1,000,001
500,00t

1,000,001

1,500,001

Fair value
HK$

5,159,75
4,185,52i
12,463,44
2,109,86!
1,045,411
2,118,701
3,809,541
3,015,451
5,052,55I
2,065,16!
3,234,091
14,932,58
12,033,54
3,997,81
3,884,89:
3,970,13
3,977,92.

8,248,04!
4,151,23!

8,037,87.

12,077,50

% of
net
asset

0.5¢

0.4%

1.4]

0.2¢

0.12

0.2¢

0.4

0.3¢

0.57

0.2t

0.37

1.6¢

1.3¢

0.4£

0.4¢

0.4¢

0.4¢

0.9:
0.47

0.91

1.37
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Listed/quoted debt securities (continuec

Cayman Islands (continue

Denominated itUS$

KWG GROUP HLDGS LTD 5.95% S/A 10AUG20

KWG GROUP HLDGS LTD 7.875% S/A 01SEP2(

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 5.25% S/A 190CT2C

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 6.375% S/A 07MAR20

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 7.5% S/A 27AUG20

POWERLONG REAL ESTATE HLDGS LTD 6.95%
S/A 23JUL202

POWERLONG REAL ESTATE HLDGS LTD 7.125%
S/A 08NOV202:

TIMES CHINA HLDGS LTD 6.6% S/A 02MAR20z

TIMES CHINA HLDGS LTD 6.75% S/A 16JUL20:

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 7.7% S/A
20FEB202!

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 8.375% S/A
300CT202

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 8.5% S/A
26FEB202.

Chine

Denominated in HK

BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG KONG 2.59% A
25JUL2022 FXCI

BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG KONG 3% A
21MAY?2021 FXCLC

CHINA DEV BK HK 4.38% A 15DEC202

CHINA DEVELOPMENT BANK CORP/HONG KONG
4.25% A 15JUN20Z

Hong Kong

Denominated in HK

AIRPORT AUTHORITY HONG KONG 1.95% Q
16JUN202

CITIC LTD 4.35% S/A 25JUL20z

GUOTAI JUNAN INTL HLDGS LTD 2.5% A
16JUN202.

HK GOVT 1.7% S/A 24MAY202

HK GOVT 1.73% S/A 20FEB20:

HK GOVT 2.24% S/A 27AUG20z

HK GOVT 2.48% S/A 28FEB20:

HK GOVT 2.49% S/A 22AUG20z

HK GOVT 2.71% S/A 20FEB20:
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Holding/
Nominal value

500,00
1,000,001
1,000,001

500,00
1,000,001

500,00(
1,500,001
500,00(
1,000,001
500,00(
500,00(

500,00t

1,000,001

10,000,00
2,000,001

2,000,00t

10,000,00
7,000,001

28,000,00
2,000,001
4,000,001

23,000,00
9,000,001
6,000,001
4,000,001

Fair value
HK$

3,935,55!
8,141,91.
8,076,55
3,904,81
7,927,86.

4,061,92-
12,171,81
3,963,54.
8,137,41
4,158,05
4,220,15

4,203,79

1,029,101

10,102,70
2,302,40C

2,305,02i

10,297,40
7,151,69i

28,233,52
2,012,92i
4,198,76!

26,298,43

10,420,56
6,913,14
4,221,16

% of net
assets

0.4¢
0.92
0.91
0.44
0.9C

0.4¢
1.3¢
0.4f
0.92
0.47
0.4¢

0.4¢

0.12

1.14
0.2¢

0.2¢

1.17
0.81

3.2(
0.2%
0.4¢
2.9¢
1.1¢
0.7¢
0.4¢
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(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies
UNAUDITED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (continued)

31 December 2020

Listed/quoted debt securities (continuec

Hong Kon¢(continued

Denominated in HK

HK GOVT 3.27% S/A 28AUG20:

HKCG FINANCE LTD 3.3% Q 16MAY202

HKCG FINANCE LTD 3.8% QO5APR202

HKCG FINANCE LTD 4.25% Q 03JUNZ20:.

HKCG FINANCE LTD 4.72% Q 23SEP20

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
1.1% S/A 17JAN20z

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
1.16% S/A 18MAY202

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
1.25% S/A 29JUN20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
1.68% S/A 21JAN20Z

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
1.89% S/A 02MAR203

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
2.13% S/A 16JUL20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
2.22% S/A 07AUG20z

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND PROGRAMME
2.46% S/A 04AUG20z

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD 1.29% A
02JUN202

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD 2.05% A
15FEB202.

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD 2.31% A
12APR202

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD 2.4% A
27SEP202

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD 5.28% Q
20JUN202:

KOWLOON-CANTON 3.88% S/A 15JUN20:

KOWLOON-CANTON RAILWAY CORP 3.82% S/A
09JUL202:

OCBC WING HANG BANK LTD 3.2% Q 09JUN2021
FXCD

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 1.8% Q
17AUG202:

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 2.55%
Q 18AUG202:

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 2.65%
Q 03JUN202

41

Holding/
Nominal value

4,000,001
4,000,001
2,000,001
5,000,001
2,000,001
7,000,001
14,000,00
8,000,001
9,000,001
22,000,00
6,000,001
12,000,00
33,000,00
2,000,001
6,000,001
3,000,001
7,000,001

4,000,001
4,000,001

34,000,00
4,000,001
6,000,001
8,000,001

3,000,001

Fair value
HK$

4,333,52i
4,144,201
2,267,841
5,554,95I
2,674,98
7,141,33i
14,209,72
8,404,241
9,608,85!
24,403,50
6,782,041
12,852,24
33,461,01
2,007,401
6,015,60
3,017,46
7,097,51i

4,275,76!
4,059,841

34,590,57
4,043,96!
6,048,36!
8,398,56!

3,162,18

% of
net assets

0.4¢
0.47
0.2¢
0.6
0.3C
0.81
1.61
0.9¢
1.0¢
2.7¢
0.77
1.4¢
3.8C
0.2%
0.6¢
0.3
0.8C

0.4¢
0.4¢

3.92

0.4¢

0.6¢

0.9t

0.3¢



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG KOG DOLLAR BOND FUND

(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies
UNAUDITED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (continued)

31 December 2020

Listed/quoted debt securities (continuec

Hong Kong (continue:
Denominated itHK$

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 2.8% Q

26MAR202¢

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 2.95%
Q 22FEB202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 3% Q
07APR202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 3% Q
19MAR202¢

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING LTD 3.2% Q

17JAN202
WHARF FINANCE LTD 3.75% Q 240CT20:
WHARF FINANCE LTD 3.9% Q 19JUN20:
WHARF FINANCE LTD 4.25% Q 11APR20:
WHARF FINANCE LTD 4.35% Q 17JANZ20:
WHARF FINANCE LTD 4.426% Q 29JAN20:
WHEELOCK FINANCE LTD 4.06% Q 27FEB20.

Denominated in US
YANLORD LAND HK CO LTD 6.75%S/A 23APR202

Japar

Denominated in HK

MUFG BANK LTD/HONG KONG 2.48% A
16MAY2022 FXCLC

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORP/HONG KONG
2.7% Q 21FEB2022 FXC

United Arab Emirate

Denominated in HK

FIRST ABU DHABI BANK PJSC/HONG KONG 4.6%
Q 29JAN2021 FXCI

TOTAL INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

TOTAL INVESTMENTS, AT COS’
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Holding/  Fair value % of
Nominal value HK$ net assets
2,000,00! 2,121,110 0.24
2,000,00! 2,122,041 0.24
5,000,00! 5,382,30! 0.61
1,000,001 1,068,48! 0.1z
1,000,001 1,087,541 0.1z
6,000,00! 6,218,04! 0.7C
10,000,00 10,860,80 1.2
4,000,001 4,291,601 0.4¢
2,000,00! 2,052,16! 0.2z
1,500,001 1,638,76! 0.1¢
2,000,00! 2,009,06! 0.25
1,500,000 12,129,72 1.37
8,000,00! 8,192,80! 0.9¢
1,000,001 1,023,95! 0.12
2,000,00! 2,004,64 0.2¢
788,343,69 89.2¢
772,865,37



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (continued)

31 December 2020

Holding/  Fair value % of
Nominal value HK$ net assets
Listed/quoted debt securities (continuec
TOTAL NET ASSETS
Total debt securitie 788,343,69!¢ 89.2¢
Other net asse 94,636,73 10.7:
Total net asse 882,980,42 100.0(
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG KOG DOLLAR BOND FUND

(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

31 December 2020

Movement
At 1 At 31
January Decembel
2020  Additions Disposals 2020
LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
Bermuda
Denominated in HK
HAITONG INTL SECURITIES GROUP
LTD CB 0% A 250CT202 32,000,00( - - 32,000,00(
British Virgin Islands
Denominated in HK
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 1.75% A
04FEB202; - 6,000,00( - 6,000,00(
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 2.35%
S/A 06MAY202 - 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 2.55% A
24JAN202. - 2,000,00( - 2,000,00(
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 2.85% Q
23APR202 - 8,000,00( - 8,000,00(
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 3.6% S/A
09NOV202! 8,000,00( 6,000,00( - 14,000,000t
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 4.03% Q
27SEP202 - 2,000,00( - 2,000,00(
HENDERSON LAND MTN LTD 4.8% Q
10NOV203: 5,000,00( 1,000,00( - 6,000,00(
HLP FINANCE LTD 4.35% S/A
20JAN202: 1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
HLP FINANCE LTD 4.6% S/A
16MAY 2024 1,000,00( - (1,000,00C -
HLP FINANCE LTD 4.75% S/A
020CT202. 3,000,00( - (3,000,00C -
HYSAN MTN LTD 3.1% Q 04APR20Z 2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
HYSAN MTN LTD 3.78% Q 31AUG202 2,000,00( - (2,000,00C -
K WAH INTL FINANCIAL SERVICES
LTD 4.35% Q 22JUL20z 5,000,00( 7,000,00( - 12,000,000t
NWD MTN LTD 3.8% Q 21MAY202! 2,000,00( 4,000,00( - 6,000,00(
NWD MTN LTD 5.25% S/A 19MAR202 - 2,000,00( (2,000,00C -
NWD MTN LTD 5.9% S/A 18SEP20: 4,000,00¢ 12,000,00( (14,000,00C 2,000,00(
WHARF FINANCE BVI LTD 3.3% Q
07SEP202 - 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(
WHARF FINANCE BVI LTD 3.8% A
17SEP202 12,000,00( 2,000,00( - 14,000,00
WHARF REIC FINANCE BVILTD 2.1%
Q 16MAR202" - 27,000,00( - 27,000,001
WHARF REIC FINANCE BVI LTD 2.8%
A 23JAN203( - 16,000,00! - 16,000,00t
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

Movement
Atl At 31
January Decembel
2020 Additions Disposals 2020
LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)
British Virgin Islands (continued)
Denominated in US
FRANSHION BRILLIANT LTD 4.875%
S/A PERI 500,00( - - 500,00(
RKPF OVERSEAS 2019 ALTD 6% S/A
04SEP202 - 900,00c - 900,00(
WANDA PROPERTIES OVERSEAS LTD
6.875% S/A 23JUL20: - 500,00( - 500,00(
WANDA PROPERTIES OVERSEAS LTD
6.95% S/A 05DEC20: - 1,000,00( - 1,000,00(
Cayman Islanc
Denominated iHK$
CHEUNG KONG FINANCE MTN LTD
4.35% Q 20JAN20: 1,000,00( - (1,000,00C -
CK PROPERTY FINANCE MTN LTD
2.25% Q 25AUG20z - 1,000,00( - 1,000,00(
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 1.92% A
260CT202: 4,000,00( - - 4,000,00(
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 2.25% A
28DEC202. 3,000,00( - - 3,000,00(
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 2.25% Q
04DEC202! 2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 2.25% Q
120CT202. 2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
MTR CORP (CI) LTD 3% Q 24FEB20: 1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 2.28% Q 25AUG202 5,000,00( - - 5,000,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 2.55% Q 24JUL20z - 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 2.68% Q 27FEB20: - 12,000,00t - 12,000,00t
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 2.7% Q 26JUN20z 2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 3.25% Q 05DEC20z 1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 3.35% Q 11SEP20: - 2,000,00( - 2,000,00(
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

Movement
Atl At 31
January Decembel
2020  Additions Disposals 2020
LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)
Cayman Islands (continued)
Denominated in HK
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 4% Q 16APR202 - 3,500,00( - 3,500,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 4.05% Q 24FEB20z 3,000,00( - - 3,000,00(
SUN HUNG KAI PROPERTIES CAPITAL
MARKET LTD 4.1% Q 20APR20Z 5,000,00( - - 5,000,00(
SWIRE PACIFIC MTN FINANCING LTD
2.85% Q18JUL202. 2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
SWIRE PACIFIC MTN FINANCING LTD
3.35% Q 31JUL20z 3,000,00( - - 3,000,00(
SWIRE PACIFIC MTN FINANCING LTD
3.9% Q 05NOV203 9,000,00( 4,000,00( - 13,000,00t
Denominated in US
AGILE GROUP HLDGS LTD 6.7% S/A
07MAR202: - 1,500,00( - 1,500,00(
AGILE GROUP HLDGS LTD 8.5% S/A
18JUL202: 500,00( - - 500,00(
CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD
7.25% S/A 13AUG20z - 500,00( - 500,00(
CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD
7.25% S/A 24APR20: - 500,00( - 500,00(
CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD
7.9% S/A 07TNOV202 - 500,00( - 500,00(
CENTRAL CHINA REAL ESTATE LTD
8.75% S/A 23JAN20z 900,00( - (900,000 -
CHINA AOYUAN GROUP LTD 6.35%
S/A 08FEB202 - 1,500,00( (1,500,000 -
CHINA AOYUAN GROUP LTD 7.5% S/A
10MAY2021 1,000,00( - (2,000,000 -
CHINA SCE GROUP HLDGS LTD 7.25%
S/A 19APR202 - 1,500,00( (1,500,000 -
CHINA SCE GROUP HLDGS LTD 7.375!
S/A 09APR202 - 1,000,00( - 1,000,00(
CIFI HLDGS GROUP CO LTD 5.375%
S/A PERI 500,00( - (500,000 -
CIFI HLDGS GROUP CO LTD 5.5% S/A
23JAN202: 500,00( - (500,000 -
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

Movement

LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)

Cayman Islands (continued)

Denominated itUS$

CIFI HLDGS GROUP CO LTD 6.55% S/A
28MAR202:

COUNTRY GARDEN HLDGS CO LTD
4.75% S/A 28SEP20:

COUNTRY GARDEN HLDGS CO LTD
7.5% S/A 09MAR202

COUNTRY GARDEN HLDGS CO LTD
8% S/A 27JAN202

FUTURE LAND DEVELOPMENT
HLDGS LTD 6.15% S/A 15APR20:

GREENTOWN CHINA HLDGS LTD
5.65% S/A 13JUL20:

GREENTOWN CHINA HLDGS LTD
5.875% S/A 11AUG20:

KWG GROUP HLDGS LTD 5.875% S/A
10NOV202-

KWG GROUP HLDGS LTD 5.95% S/A
10AUG202!

KWG GROUP HLDGS LTD 7.875% S/A
01SEP202

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 5.25% S/A
190CT202!

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 5.75% S/A
03JAN202.

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 6.375% S/A
07MAR202:

LOGAN GROUP CO LTD 7.5% S/A
27AUG202:

POWERLONG REAL ESTATE HLDGS
LTD 5.95% S/A 19JUL20z

POWERLONG REAL ESTATE HLDGS
LTD 6.95% S/A 23JUL20z

POWERLONG REAL ESTATE HLDGS
LTD 7.125% S/A 08NOV20z

RONSHINE CHINA HLDGS LTD 8.1%
S/A 09JUN202

Atl
January
2020

500,00(

500,00(

500,00(¢

500,00(

500,00(

1,000,00(

a7

Additions

500,00(

1,000,00(
1,000,00(

1,500,00(

500,00(
500,00c
1,000,00(

1,000,00(

1,000,00(

500,00(

1,500,00(

1,000,00(

At 31
Decembel
Disposals 2020

- 500,00(
(500,000 -
(500,000 -

(1,000,00C -

1,000,00(

1,500,00(
(500,000 -
(500,000 -

- 500,00(

1,000,00(

1,000,00(
(500,000 -

- 500,00(¢

1,000,00(

(1,000,00C -

500,00

1,500,00(

(1,000,00C -



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)

Cayman Islands (continued)

Denominated itUS$

RONSHINE CHINA HLDGS LTD 8.95%
S/IA 22JAN202

SHIMAO PROPERTY HLDGS LTD 5.6%
S/A 15JUL202

TIMES CHINA HLDGS LTD 6.25% S/A
23JAN202!

TIMES CHINA HLDGS LTD 6.6% S/A
02MAR202:

TIMES CHINA HLDGS LTD 6.75% S/A
16JUL202:

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 6% S/A
25JAN202:

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 6% S/A
250CT202:

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 7.375%
S/A 13JAN202

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 7.7%
S/A 20FEB202

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 8.375%
S/A 300CT202

YUZHOU PROPERTIES CO LTD 8.5%
S/A 26FEB202

China

Denominated in HK

BANK OF CHINA LTD/MACAU 2.34%
S/A 150CT2020 FXCI

BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG KONG 3%
A 21MAY2021 FXCL

BANK OF CHINA LTD/HONG KONG
2.59% A 25JUL2022 FXC

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO
LTD/HONG KONG 2.08% A
20JUL2020 FXCI

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO
LTD/HONG KONG 2% A 17AUG2020
FXCD

Movement
Atl At 31
January Decembel
2020  Additions Disposals 2020
- 1,000,00( (1,000,00C -
1,000,00( - (1,000,00C -
500,00( - (500,000 -
500,00( - - 500,00(
- 1,000,00( - 1,000,00(
500,00( - (500,000 -
500,00( - (500,000 -
- 500,00( (500,000 -
- 500,00( - 500,00(
- 500,00( - 500,00(
- 500,00( - 500,00(
14,000,00( - (14,000,00C -
10,000,00( - - 10,000,00t
1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
2,000,00( - (2,000,00C -
8,000,00( - (8,000,00C -
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)

China (continued)

Denominated in HK

CHINA DEVELOPMENT BANK
CORP/HK 2.4% A 22JAN2020 FXC

CHINA DEVELOPMENT BANK
CORP/HONG KONG 3.98% A
23APR2020 FXCI

CHINA DEVELOPMENT BANK
CORP/HONG KONG 3.65% A
24N0OV2020 FXCI

CHINA DEV BK HK 4.38% A 15DEC202

CHINA DEVELOPMENT BANK
CORP/HONG KONG 4.25% A
15JUN202

Hong Kon¢

Denominated in HK

AIRPORT AUTHORITY HONG KONG
1.95% Q 16JUN20:

CITIC LTD 4.35% S/A 25JUL20z

DBS BANK HONG KONG LTD 3.86% Q
20JAN2020 FXCI

FAR EAST HORIZON LTD 4.35% Q
14MAR202(

GUOTAI JUNAN INTL HLDGS LTD 2.5%
A 16JUN202:

HANG SENG BANK LTD 2.25% Q
11MAY2020 FXCL

HK GOVT 1.7% S/A 24MAY?202

HK GOVT 1.73% S/A 20FEB20:

HK GOVT 1.79% S/A 21MAY202

HK GOVT 2.08% S/A 23NOV202

HK GOVT 2.24% S/A 27AUG20Z

HK GOVT 2.44% S/A 07DEC20:

HK GOVT 2.48% S/A28FEB202!

HK GOVT 2.49% S/A 22AUG202

HK GOVT 2.71% S/A 20FEB20:

HK GOVT 3.27% S/A 28AUG20Z

HKCG FINANCE LTD 3.3% Q
16MAY2022

Movement

Atl At 31
January December
2020  Additions Disposals 2020
5,000,00( - (5,000,000 -
1,000,00( - (1,000,000 -
5,000,00( - (5,000,000 -
2,000,00( - - 2,000,001
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
- 10,000,00t - 10,000,00t
7,000,00( - - 7,000,00(
1,000,00( - (1,000,000 -
2,000,00( - (2,000,000 -
- 28,000,00t - 28,000,001
2,000,00( - (2,000,000 -
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
- 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(

- 20,000,00( (20,000,00C -

- 2,000,00( (2,000,000 -
6,000,00C 17,000,00( - 23,000,00(
- 4,000,00( (4,000,000 -
5,000,00( 4,000,00( - 9,000,00(
- 6,000,00( - 6,000,00(

- 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(

- 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(
4,000,00( - - 4,000,00(
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)

Hong Kong(continued)

Denominated in HK

HKCG FINANCE LTD 3.8% Q
05APR202

HKCG FINANCE LTD 4.25% Q
03JUN202.

HKCG FINANCE LTD 4.72% Q
23SEP203

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 0.91% S/A 05NOV20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 1.06% S/A 05FEB20

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 1.1% S/A 17JAN20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 1.16% S/A 18MAY?20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 1.25% S/A 29JUN20

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 1.68% S/A 21JAN20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 1.89% S/A 02MAR20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 2.13% S/A 16JUL20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 2.22% S//07AUG202:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 2.46% S/A 04AUG20:

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT BOND
PROGRAMME 2.93% S/A 13JANZ20:

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
1.29% A 02JUN20z

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
1.6% Q 04MAR202

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
1.95% A 200CT20z

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
1.96% A 16MAR202

Movement
At1l At 31
January December
2020 Additions Disposals 2020
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
- 5,000,00¢( - 5,000,00(
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
5,000,00( 8,000,00C (13,000,00C -
16,000,001 2,000,00C (18,000,00C -
5,000,00( 2,000,00¢( - 7,000,00(
- 14,000,00( - 14,000,00t
8,000,00( - - 8,000,00(
5,000,00( 4,000,00( - 9,000,00(
14,000,001 8,000,00( - 22,000,00t
6,000,00( - - 6,000,00(
8,000,00( 4,000,00( - 12,000,001
15,000,00(  18,000,00t - 33,000,001
1,000,00( - (1,000,00C -
- 2,000,00¢( - 2,000,00(
5,000,00( - (5,000,00C -
- 2,000,00( (2,000,00C -
1,000,00( - (1,000,00C -
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)

Hong Kong(continued)

Denominated in HK

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
2.05% A 15FEB20z

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
2.18% Q 190CT20:

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
2.31% A12APR202.

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
2.4% A 27SEP20:

HONG KONG MORTGAGE CORP LTD
5.28% Q 20JUN20:

HONG KONG T-BILLS 0% A
11MAR202(

KOWLOON-CANTON 3.88% S/A
15JUN202.

KOWLOON-CANTON RAILWAY CORP
3.82% S/A 09JUL20:

OCBC WING HANG BANK LTD 3.2% Q
09JUN2021 FXCI

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 1.8% Q 17AUG202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 2.55% Q 18AUG202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 2.65% Q 03JUN20:

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 2.8% Q 26MAR202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 2.95% Q 22FEB20:

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 3% Q 07APR202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 3% Q 19MAR202

SWIRE PROPERTIES MTN FINANCING
LTD 3.2% Q 17JAN202

WHARF FINANCE LTD 3.75% Q
240CT202:

Movement

At1l At 31
January December
2020  Additions Disposals 2020

- 6,000,00( - 6,000,00(

- 8,000,00¢( (8,000,00C -
3,000,00( - - 3,000,00(
- 7,000,00¢( - 7,000,00(

- 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(

- 18,000,00¢ (18,000,00C -
1,000,00( 3,000,00¢( - 4,000,00(
- 34,000,001 - 34,000,00(
4,000,00( - - 4,000,00(
6,000,00( - - 6,000,00(
8,000,00( - - 8,000,00(
3,000,00( - - 3,000,00(
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
- 2,000,00¢( - 2,000,00(
5,000,00( - - 5,000,00(
1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
6,000,00( - - 6,000,00(

51



CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (contined)

31 December 2020

LISTED/QUOTED DEBT SECURITIES
(continued)

Hong Kong(continued)

Denominated in HK

WHARF FINANCE LTD 3.9% Q
19JUN202.

WHARF FINANCE LTD 4.25% Q
11APR202.

WHARF FINANCE LTD 4.35% Q
17JAN202:

WHARF FINANCE LTD 4.426% Q
29JAN202-

WHARF FINANCE NO 1 LTD 4.45% Q
16MAR202(

WHARF FINANCE NO 1 LTD 4.9% Q
21JAN202!(

WHEELOCK FINANCE LTD 4.06% Q
27FEB202

Denominated in US
YANLORD LAND HK CO LTD 6.75%
S/A 23APR202

Japan

Denominated in HK

MUFG BANK LTD/HONG KONG 2.48%
A 16MAY2022 FXCL

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING
CORP/HONG KONG 2.7% Q
21FEB2022 FXCI

United Arab Emirate

Denominated in HK

FIRST ABU DHABI BANK PJSC/HONG
KONG 4.6% Q 29JAN2021 FXC

Movement

At1l At 31
January December
2020  Additions Disposals 2020
2,000,00( 8,000,00( - 10,000,00t
- 4,000,00( - 4,000,00(
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
- 1,500,00( - 1,500,00(
2,000,00( - (2,000,000 -
1,000,00( - (2,000,000 -
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
1,000,00( 500,00( - 1,500,00(
8,000,00( - - 8,000,00(
1,000,00( - - 1,000,00(
2,000,00( - - 2,000,00(
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED PERFORMANCE TABLE

31 December 2020

1. NET ASSET VALUE
Net assets value Total net asset
per unit value

HK$ US$ RMB HK$ Uss$ RMB
As at 31 December 2020
- Class A (HKD) units 10.045 - - 594,398,289 - -
- Class A (USD) units - 1.004 - - 218,966 -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.051 - - 140,227,142 - -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.004 - - 17,936,867 -
- Class | (RMB) units - - 9.403 - - 6,377,978
As at 31 December 2019
- Class A (HKD) units 10.019 - - 282,210,990 - -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.020 - - 137,113,599 - -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.008 - - 10,815,102 -
- Class | (RMB) units - - 9.991 - - 6,459,660
As at 31 December 2018
- Class A (HKD) units 10.048 - - 259,199,638 - -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.101 - - 128,568,126 - -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.002 - - 9,108,812 -
- Class | (RMB) units - - 10.109 - - 6,065,298

2. HIGHEST ISSUE AND LOWEST REDEMPTION PRICES PER UNIT
Highest subscription Lowest redemption
unit price unit price

HK$ US$ RMB HK$ Uss$ RMB

For the year
ended 31 December 2020
- Class A (HKD) units 10.297 - - 9.889 - -
- Class A (USD) units - 1.004 - - 1.000 -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.310 - - 9.895 - -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.042 - - 0.998 -
- Class | (RMB) units - - 10.548 - - 9.386
For the year
ended 31 December 2019

- Class A (HKD) units 10.376 - - 10.018 - -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.442 - - 10.017 - -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.036 - - 1.003 -
- Class | (RMB) units - - 10.695 - - 9.951
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CHINA UNIVERSAL INTERNATIONAL SERIES — CUAM HONG K®IG DOLLAR BOND FUND
(A sub-fund of China Universal International Seyies

UNAUDITED PERFORMANCE TABLE (continued)

31 December 2020

2.HIGHEST ISSUE AND LOWEST REDEMPTION PRICES PER UNIT (continued)

Highest subscription Lowest redemption
unit price unit price
HK$ US$ RMB HK$ uss RMB

For the year

ended 31 December 2018
- Class A (HKD) units 10.048 - - 9.840 -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.101 - - 9.888 -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.002 - - 0.980 -
- Class | (RMB) units - - 10.134 - - 10.000
For the year

ended 31 December 2017
- Class A (HKD) units 10.168 - - 9.921 -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.422 - - 10.013 -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.015 - - 0.994
- Class | (RMB) units - - - - -
For the year

ended 31 December 2016
- Class A (HKD) units 10.237 - - 9.898 -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.461 - - 10.134 -
- Class | (USD) units - 1.000 - - 0.991
- Class | (RMB) units - - - - -
For the year

ended 31 December 2015
- Class A (HKD) units 10.161 - - 9.943 -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.365 - - 9.988 -

- Class | (USD) units - - - - -
- Class | (RMB) units - - - - -

For the period from
2 September 2013
(date of inception) to
31 December 2014
- Class A (HKD) units - -
- Class | (HKD) units 10.348 - - 9.941 -
- Class | (USD) units - - - - -
- Class | (RMB) units - - - - -
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